RESEARCH



Kiselev black holes in f(R, T) gravity

L. C. N. Santos¹ · F. M. da Silva² · C. E. Mota² · I. P. Lobo^{3,4} · V. B. Bezerra¹

Received: 8 May 2023 / Accepted: 2 August 2023 / Published online: 22 August 2023 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2023

Abstract

We obtain new exact solutions for the gravitational field equations in the context of f(R, T) gravity, thereby obtaining different classes of black holes surrounded by fluids, taking into account some specific values of the parameter of the equations of state, w. In order to obtain these solutions in the context of f(R, T) gravity, we consider viable particular choices of the f(R, T). Considering an anisotropic energy-momentum tensor, we write the field equations with the required symmetries for this type of solution. Then, we analyze the conditions of energy in a general way and also for particular values of the parameter w of the equation of state. In addition, thermodynamic quantities, such as Hawking temperature and mass associated to the horizons of solutions, are taken into account in our analysis.

Keywords f(R, T) gravity \cdot Modified gravity \cdot Black holes \cdot Hawking temperature

L. C. N. Santos luis.santos@ufsc.br

> F. M. da Silva franmdasilva@gmail.com

C. E. Mota clesio200915@hotmail.com

I. P. Lobo lobofisica@gmail.com

V. B. Bezerra valdir@fisica.ufpb.br

- ¹ Departamento de Física, CCEN–Universidade Federal da Paraíba, C.P. 5008, CEP 58.051-970 João Pessoa, PB, Brazil
- ² Departamento de Física, CFM-Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina, C.P. 476, CEP 88.040-900 Florianópolis, SC, Brazil
- ³ Department of Chemistry and Physics, Federal University of Paraíba, Rodovia BR 079 Km 12, 58397-000 Areia, PB, Brazil
- ⁴ Physics Department, Federal University of Lavras, Caixa Postal 3037, 37200-000 Lavras, MG, Brazil

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Field equations	3
3	Energy-momentum of the Kiselev black hole	5
4	The $f(T) = \varkappa T^n$ model	6
	4.1 Conservation conditions	8
	4.2 Energy conditions	9
	4.3 Horizons, mass and temperature	10
5	Particular cases	12
	5.1 Black hole surrounded by a dust field	12
	5.2 Black hole surrounded by the radiation field	14
	5.3 Black hole surrounded by the quintessence field	15
	5.4 Black hole surrounded by the cosmological constant field	16
	5.5 Black hole surrounded by the phantom field	17
6	Final remarks	19
Re	eferences	20

1 Introduction

The observations showing the accelerating expansion of the universe [1] are one of the most important discoveries in cosmology in recent years. In order to explain such accelerating expansion, several models have been studied in general relativity and modified theories of gravity. In the context of general relativity, we can assume equations of state connecting the energy density and the pressure associated to the universe, which demand a negative pressure for the equations of state. Assuming a relation in the form $p = w\rho$, where p is the pressure and ρ the energy density, the physical properties of the matter and energy of space-time depend on the values of the parameter w.

Kiselev proposed a general relation connecting energy density and pressure [2], where the components of the energy-momentum tensor can be associated to an anisotropic fluid that by taking the isotropic average over the angles, one obtains the barotropic equation of state. In this way, particular choices of the parameter of equations of state can be assumed in this formulation and some of these values reproduce, in the cosmological context, the accelerating pattern [2]. Kiselev solution [2] was also associated to a quintessence field, (See [3] for a discussion on the terminology issues concerning this solution), and, in this context, several investigations have been done on the shadow of black holes [4-8], quasinormal modes [9-19], thermodynamics of black holes [20–34], and other questions related to black holes surrounded by fluids in the framework of non-conservative gravity [35-40]. In which concerns the singularities present in several classes of black holes, the weak cosmic censorship conjecture demands that no naked singularities exist in the space-time, i.e, the singularities arising from the solutions of Einstein field equations are hidden within event horizons [41]. Although this conjecture is violated in solutions such as the extreme Reissner-Nordström and extreme Kerr black hole, some studies [42] reveal that it can be satisfied in Reissner-Nordström-AdS black hole surrounded by quintessence.

On the other hand, some extensions of the general relativity have gained interest in recent days due to the possibility of their use for addressing open problems in both astrophysical [43–49] and cosmological context [50–52]. In particular, motivated by the idea of considering different classes of coupling between matter and geometry in a general formalism, and by advances in cosmology due to the f(R) theories, it was proposed the f(R, T) gravity theory [53]. It is well-known that theories with nontrivial matter-geometry coupling have additional effects on the dynamics of the bodies in the space-time. Indeed, motion of the massive particles in f(R, T) is non-geodesic and undergoes an extra force depending on the coupling of the matter and the geometry. The possibility of reconstructing arbitrary Friedmann-Robertson-Walker cosmologies by an appropriate choice of a function f(T) has stimulated the study of the f(R, T)in cosmological scenarios [54–56].

Such effects may become more prominent for high densities and pressures, in this way, it is natural to test the effects of modification of gravity imposed by f(R, T)theory in the scale of compact objects. The influence of the dependency on the Ricci scalar R considering vacuum solutions has been studied in the literature in the context of f(R) gravity. In the case of theories of gravity in which the Lagrangian density depends on T, it is expected differences between solutions in these models and general relativity in the presence of a no-zero energy-momentum tensor, i.e, it is expected additional effects due to the matter-geometry coupling. In particular, the presence of fluids surrounding spherical sources of matter can be an interesting system to study the effects of this coupling between matter and geometry. In this paper, we study nontrivial black hole solutions for the field equations in the context of f(R, T) gravity where the black hole is surrounded by the fluid discussed by Kiselev [2]. In addition, it is considered particular cases associated to the solution obtained by taking into account the appropriate values of the parameter of fluid equation of state. It is worth emphasizing that we will consider viable particular choices of the f(R, T) function in such a way that the obtained results can be associated to an extension of the Kiselev solution [2] for this modified theory of gravity.

The paper is organized in the following way: In Sect. 2, we review the field equations in the context of f(R, T) gravity and particularize it for a specific choice of f(R, T)function. Section 3 is dedicated to the study of energy-momentum tensor associated to the fluid surrounding the black hole. In Sect. 4, we discuss the f(R, T) gravity model in which the trace function is written in terms of an arbitrary exponent and we obtain an exact solution corresponding to a black hole surrounded by fluids. We also discuss general energy conditions, horizons, mass, and temperature for this solution. The analysis of the cases corresponding to particular choices of the parameter of the equation of state w and their relation with solutions in the context of general relativity is considered in Sect. 5. Finally, in Sect. 6, we present our final remarks.

2 Field equations

In this section, we briefly review the field equations in the context of f(R, T) gravity [53]. In this formulation, it is assumed an action in the form

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int f(R,T) \sqrt{-g} d^4 x + \int L_m \sqrt{-g} d^4 x,$$
 (1)

🖉 Springer

with f(R, T) being a function of the Ricci scalar, R, and of the trace T of the energy-momentum tensor of the matter. Note that L_m in Eq. (1) represents the matter Lagrangian density, this term is associated to a particular energy-momentum tensor. By varying the action S with respect to the metric tensor, we obtain the integral

$$\delta S = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int \left[f_R(R,T) R_{\mu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} + f_R(R,T) g_{\mu\nu} \Box \delta g^{\mu\nu} + \right]$$
(2)

$$-f_R(R,T)\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\delta g^{\mu\nu} + f_T(R,T)\frac{\delta(g^{\eta\xi}T_{\eta\xi})}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}}\delta g^{\mu\nu} +$$
(3)

$$-\frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}f(R,T)\delta g^{\mu\nu} + \frac{16\pi}{\sqrt{-g}}\frac{\delta(\sqrt{-g}L_m)}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}}\bigg]\sqrt{-g}d^4x \tag{4}$$

where $f_R(R, T) = \partial f(R, T) / \partial R$ and $f_T(R, T) = \partial f(R, T) / \partial T$. By integrating the second and third terms and considering the variation of *T* as

$$\frac{\delta(g^{\eta\xi}T_{\eta\xi})}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} = T_{\mu\nu} + \Theta_{\mu\nu},\tag{5}$$

where

$$\Theta_{\mu\nu} \equiv g^{\eta\xi} \frac{\delta T_{\eta\xi}}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} = -2T_{\mu\nu} + g_{\mu\nu}L_m - 2g^{\eta\xi} \frac{\partial^2 L_m}{\partial g^{\mu\nu}g^{\eta\xi}},\tag{6}$$

emerges from the definition of the variation of the matter Lagrangian, we obtain

$$f_{R}(R,T)R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{g_{\mu\nu}}{2}f(R,T) + (g_{\mu\nu}\Box - \nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu})f_{R}(R,T) = 8\pi T_{\mu\nu} - f_{T}(R,T)T_{\mu\nu} - f_{T}(R,T)\Theta_{\mu\nu},$$
(7)

which is the form of the field equation in f(R, T) gravity that we are going to use in this paper. In the special case in which $f(R, T) \equiv f(R)$, Eq. (7) reduces to the field equations in the context of f(R) gravity. In this way, the novel feature introduced by f(R, T) gravity is the possibility of arbitrary coupling between matter and geometry. An interesting choice of f(R, T) functions is given by [53]

$$f(R,T) = R + 2f(T),$$
(8)

where f(T) is an arbitrary function of the trace of the energy-momentum tensor. From Eq. (7) and by considering the trace function Eq. (8), the field equations are given by

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{g_{\mu\nu}}{2}R = 8\pi T_{\mu\nu} - 2f'(T)T_{\mu\nu} - 2f'(T)\Theta_{\mu\nu} + f(T)g_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (9)$$

where f'(T) = df(T)/dT. Concerning the choice of the function f(T), before we write an explicit expression, it is instructive to discuss the form of the trace associated

to a specific choice of the energy-momentum tensor of the matter. As we will see, the condition of additivity and linearity imposed to the Kiselev solution naturally restricts the form of this function.

3 Energy-momentum of the Kiselev black hole

Considering a spherically symmetric space-time, the line element associated to a static geometry can be written as

$$ds^{2} = B(r)dr^{2} - A(r)dr^{2} - r^{2}(d\theta^{2} + \sin\theta^{2}d\phi^{2}),$$
(10)

where B(r) and A(r) are unknown functions of the coordinate r. The energymomentum tensor in Kiselev black holes is defined to have the components of the spatial sector proportional to the time sector:

$$T^{t}_{t} = T^{r}_{r} = \rho(r),$$
 (11)

$$T^{\theta}_{\ \theta} = T^{\phi}_{\ \phi} = -\frac{1}{2}\rho(3w+1), \tag{12}$$

and w is the parameter of equation of state. In addition, by taking the isotropic average over the angles, in the place of equations (11) and (12), one obtain the barotropic equation of state $p = w\rho$. Kiselev black [2] holes have the components of energy-momentum tensor effectively connected to an anisotropic fluid represented by

$$T^{\mu}_{\nu} = diag(\rho, -p_r, -p_t, -p_t), \tag{13}$$

where $p_r = -\rho$ and $p_t = \frac{1}{2}\rho(3w+1)$, which can be extracted from the general form of the anisotropic fluid [46]:

$$T_{\mu\nu} = -p_t g_{\mu\nu} + (p_t + \rho) U_{\mu} U_{\nu} + (p_r - p_t) N_{\mu} N_{\nu}, \qquad (14)$$

where $p_t(r)$, $\rho(r)$ and $p_r(r)$ are the tangential or transverse pressure, the energy density and the radial pressure of the fluid, respectively. The quantities U_{μ} and N_{μ} represent the four velocity and radial unit vector, respectively, are defined as

$$U^{\mu} = \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{B(r)}}, 0, 0, 0\right), \tag{15}$$

$$N^{\mu} = \left(0, \frac{1}{\sqrt{A(r)}}, 0, 0\right),$$
(16)

and obey the conditions $U_{\nu}U^{\nu} = 1$, $N_{\nu}N^{\nu} = -1$ and $U_{\nu}N^{\nu} = 0$. The matter Lagrangian density associated to the anisotropic fluid is given by $L_m = (-1/3)(p_r + 2p_t)$ [57]. This implies that Eq. (6) can be written as

$$\Theta_{\mu\nu} = -2T_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{3}(p_r + 2p_t)g_{\mu\nu}.$$
(17)

Deringer

In the next section, we use these results in the context of the Kiselev solutions of black holes [2] that demands additivity and linearity between the metric components.

4 The $f(T) = \varkappa T^n$ model

In this section, we consider the case where the trace is written in terms of an arbitrary exponent. Substituting the energy-momentum tensor (13) and $f(T) = \varkappa T^n$ into the field equation (9), leads to

$$G^t_{\ t} = H(\rho), \tag{18}$$

$$G^r_r = H(\rho), \tag{19}$$

$$G^{\theta}{}_{\theta} = F(\rho), \tag{20}$$

where the functions are given by

$$H(\rho) = 8\pi\rho - \frac{2n(w+1)(\varkappa\rho - 3\varkappa\rho w)^n}{3w-1} + (\varkappa\rho - 3\varkappa\rho w)^n,$$
(21)

$$F(\rho) = -(12w+4)\pi\rho + \frac{n(w+1)(\varkappa\rho - 3\varkappa\rho w)^{n}}{3w-1} + (\varkappa\rho - 3\varkappa\rho w)^{n},$$
(22)

and were obtained from

$$G^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = R^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}R.$$
 (23)

Equations (18),(19) and (20) form the independent set of field equations for black holes surrounded by a fluid whose components of the energy-momentum tensor are given by Eqs.(11) and (12). As required in Kiselev approach [2], Eqs. (18) and (19) yield the relation

$$G^t_{\ t} = G^r_{\ r}.\tag{24}$$

The symmetry arising from Eq. (24) demands that

$$B(r)\frac{dA(r)}{dr} + A(r)\frac{dB(r)}{dr} = 0,$$
(25)

and, as a consequence A(r) = 1/B(r). Substituting this result in the original set of field equations, we obtain

$$G^{t}_{t} = G^{r}_{r} = -\frac{1}{r} \frac{dB(r)}{dr} - \frac{B(r)}{r^{2}} + \frac{1}{r^{2}} = H(\rho),$$
(26)

$$G^{\theta}_{\ \theta} = G^{\phi}_{\ \phi} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{d^2 B(r)}{dr^2} - \frac{1}{r} \frac{d B(r)}{dr} = F(\rho).$$
(27)

🖄 Springer

Page 7 of 22

94

Now, the conditions supposed in [2], including additivity and linearity, restricts the form of functions H and F. If one assumes a relation H = kF, where k is an arbitrary constant, then the exponent of the function f(T) must be n = 1 Notice that this condition can differ depending on the requirement of the solution analyzed. For instance, cosmological bounds are set in [58], but considering n = 1/2, which would be responsible for preserving the continuity equation for an unperturbed matter/spacetime. Combining equations (26) and (27) with the aforementioned assumptions, the energy density dependence is eliminated, and we obtain the following result

$$\frac{3\varkappa + 8\pi - w\varkappa}{4(3\pi w + w\varkappa + \pi)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{d^2 B(r)}{dr^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{dB(r)}{dr} \right) + \frac{1}{r} \frac{dB(r)}{dr} + \frac{B(r)}{r^2} - \frac{1}{r^2} = 0.$$
(28)

Equation (28) can be rewritten in the following way

$$\frac{1}{r^2} \left(\frac{d}{dr} (rB(r)) - 1 \right) = -\frac{1}{2r} \left(\frac{3\varkappa + 8\pi - w\varkappa}{4(3\pi w + w\varkappa + \pi)} \right) \frac{d}{dr} \left(\frac{d}{dr} (rB(r)) - 1 \right),$$
(29)

which can be easily integrated in order to get:

$$\frac{d}{dr}(rB(r)) - 1 = cr^{-\frac{8(3\pi w + w \varkappa + \pi)}{3\varkappa + 8\pi - w \varkappa}},\tag{30}$$

with c being an integration constant. By integrating once again, we get

$$B(r) = 1 + \frac{c_1}{r} + Kr^{-\frac{8(3\pi w + w\varkappa + \pi)}{3\varkappa + 8\pi - w\varkappa}},$$
(31)

where c_1 and K are constants. Thus, substituting (31) in the field equation, we obtain the following expression for the energy density

$$\rho = Dr^{-6 \frac{(w+1)(4\pi+\varkappa)}{-w\varkappa+8\pi+3\varkappa}},\tag{32}$$

where

$$D \equiv 3 \frac{K (8 \pi w + 3 w \varkappa - \varkappa)}{w^2 \varkappa^2 - 16 \pi w \varkappa - 6 w \varkappa^2 + 64 \pi^2 + 48 \pi \varkappa + 9 \varkappa^2}.$$
 (33)

By identifying $c_1 = -2M$, where *M* is the total mass of the black hole surrounded by the fluid, the solution obtained in this work reduces to the Schwarzschild solution in the absence of fluid, given by the condition K = 0. Besides that, when $\varkappa = 0$, this solution reduces to the standard Kiselev black hole in general relativity

$$B(r)_{\varkappa \to 0} = 1 + \frac{-2M}{r} + Kr^{-(3w+1)}.$$
(34)

🖄 Springer

4.1 Conservation conditions

In general, it is known that f(R, T)-type theories of gravity have extra geometric terms that add additional accelerations to the trajectory of bodies. Such terms can be associated with a non-vanishing covariant derivative of the energy-momentum tensor. However, specific choices of the function f(R, T) and the physical parameters of the system can lead to particular cases where the energy-momentum tensor is conserved. To see this, consider the application of the covariant derivative to equation (9). By using the Bianchi identities the lhs is equal to zero. The resulting expression can be written as

$$\nabla^{\mu}T_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{\varkappa}{2(4\pi + \varkappa)} \left[-2\nabla^{\mu}(L_m g_{\mu\nu}) + g_{\mu\nu}\nabla^{\mu}T \right].$$
(35)

The term on the right-hand side is originated from the modification in the conservation equation imposed by the f(R, T) theory. As a condition for $T_{\mu\nu}$ to be conserved in the present version, the rhs of Eq. (35) must be null, which provides the following equation

$$-\frac{\varkappa}{2(4\pi+\varkappa)}\left(1-w\right)\nabla_{r}\rho(r)=0.$$
(36)

By using Eq. (32), the above expression can be written in the following form

$$\frac{9\varkappa K\left(w^2-1\right)(\varkappa(3w-1)+8\pi w)r^{\frac{\varkappa(5w+9)+8\pi(3w+4)}{\varkappa(w-3)-8\pi}}}{(\varkappa(w-3)-8\pi)^3}=0.$$
(37)

We can see that doing $\varkappa = 0$ the conservation relation in general relativity is restored. This expression has many possible solutions depending on the choice of the values of w and \varkappa . In particular the solution w = -1 is independent of the parameter \varkappa , it is associated a black hole surrounded by a cosmological field and besides satisfies the conservation condition obtained. In the next sections, we analyze in details specifics choices of the parameter of the equation of state.

In general, the conservation of the energy-momentum tensor, which is given by Eq. (37), and is obtained with the help of Bianchi's identity, is not fulfilled. This is a feature of f(R, T) gravity and other non-conservative theories of gravity. The non-conservation includes some particular cases studied in this paper w = 0, 1/3, -2/3, -4/3, however, for specific choices of the parameter \varkappa some of these cases can satisfy the conservation condition. For example, for the case w = -2/3, Eq. (37) is satisfied if $\varkappa = -16\pi/9$. In the present version of the f(R, T) gravity, the non-conservation, that is related to trace of the stress-energy tensor, could be induced by exotic imperfect fluids or quantum effects [53]. The aim of this paper is to interpret the consequences of such non-conservation on some properties of the Kiselev black hole ansatz.

4.2 Energy conditions

Regarding the energy conditions for the anisotropic fluid, there are some requirements that the components of energy-momentum must satisfy in order to represent a realistic matter distribution. It is well-known that exotic matter violate certain energy conditions of the energy-momentum tensor. In the case of the strong energy condition (SEC), the expression for anisotropic fluids is given by the pair of equations

SEC:
$$\rho + p_n \ge 0, \quad \rho + \sum_n p_n \ge 0,$$
 (38)

where n = 1, 2, 3... By considering the energy density (32) and the components of pressure defined in (13), we obtain the radial and tangential pressure in the form

$$p_r = -\rho = -Dr^{-6} \frac{(w+1)(4\pi+\varkappa)}{-w\varkappa+8\pi+3\varkappa},$$
(39)

$$p_t = \frac{1}{2} (3w+1) Dr^{-6} \frac{(w+1)(4\pi+\varkappa)}{-w\varkappa+8\pi+3\varkappa}.$$
(40)

In this way, the SEC can be written as

$$\rho + p_r = 0, \tag{41}$$

$$\rho + p_t = \frac{3}{2} (w+1) Dr^{-6 \frac{(w+1)(4\pi+\varkappa)}{-w\varkappa+8\pi+3\varkappa}},$$
(42)

$$\rho + p_r + 2p_t = (3w + 1)Dr^{-6\frac{(w+1)(4\pi+\varkappa)}{-w\varkappa+8\pi+3\varkappa}}.$$
(43)

As a consequence of Eqs. (41),(42) and (43), the conditions in which the SEC is satisfied are the following

$$\frac{K(8\pi w + 3w\varkappa - \varkappa)(3w + 1)}{w^2 \varkappa^2 - 16\pi w\varkappa - 6w\varkappa^2 + 64\pi^2 + 48\pi \varkappa + 9\varkappa^2} \ge 0,$$
(44)

$$\frac{K(8\pi w + 3w\varkappa - \varkappa)(w+1)}{(2\pi^2 + 16\pi^2 + 48\pi^2 + 9\varkappa^2)} \ge 0.$$
(45)

$$\frac{1}{w^2 \varkappa^2 - 16\pi w \varkappa - 6w \varkappa^2 + 64\pi^2 + 48\pi \varkappa + 9\varkappa^2} \ge 0.$$
(43)

Possible solutions that satisfy the above equations connecting the parameters w, \varkappa and the SEC can be visualized in Figs. 1 and 2. In Fig. 1, we plot the left-hand side (LHS) of Eq. (44) and we consider positive values of K. In the case of Fig. 2, we plot the LHS of Eq. (45) and also consider positive values of K. In these plots, negative values of the independent variable (vertical axis) correspond to the region where the SEC is violated. Note that negative values of K cause a reflection on the values of the independent variable. We can see that in both the plots, positive values of K tend to produce results that do not violate the SEC.



Fig. 1 Condition (44) is plotted as a function of w and \varkappa considering positive values of K. Negative values of the independent variable are associated to the regions where the SEC is violated



Fig. 2 Condition (45) is plotted as a function of w and \varkappa considering positive values of K. Negative values are associated to the regions where the SEC is violated

4.3 Horizons, mass and temperature

By denoting the place where the metric function B(r) is equal to zero as r_h , the horizons of a metric function are defined as $B(r_h) = 0$. It follows from this definition



Fig. 3 Plot of B(r) versus r, Eq. (31), in units of mass (M = 1), for three types of anisotropic fluid (w = -2/3, w = 0 and w = 1/3), and for the cases $\varkappa = -10, \varkappa = 0$ (which recovers GR) and $\varkappa = 10$. In this plot K = 3/4

that the black hole mass parameter can be written in terms of r_h , as follows

$$M(r_{h}) = \frac{1}{2} r_{h} \left[1 + K r_{h}^{-\frac{8(3\pi w + w \times +\pi)}{3\varkappa + 8\pi - w \varkappa}} \right],$$
(46)

which represents a general relation connecting the mass, the parameters w and \varkappa . In Fig. 3 we show B(r) in terms of r for a fixed value of the mass M and some specific values of the Kiselev parameter w (these specific cases are discussed in more detail in the sections below). The figure shows how the behavior of the curve B(r) changes as we vary the value of the parameter \varkappa of the f(R, T) gravity. As a consequence, the points where B(r) is equal to zero, that is, the horizons r_h , also change. For the values of parameters used in the figure, we can observe that positive values of \varkappa lead to horizons with smaller r_h radii, and negative values of \varkappa lead to even smaller horizons.

The surface gravity of the black hole surround by a fluid, given by $\kappa = \frac{1}{2} \frac{dB(r)}{dr} \Big|_{r=r_h}$, can be evaluated, with the following result

$$\kappa = \frac{8\pi + 3\varkappa - w\varkappa - 3K(8\pi w - \varkappa + 3w\varkappa)r_h^{-\frac{8(3\pi w + w\varkappa + \pi)}{3\varkappa + 8\pi - w\varkappa}}}{2(8\pi + 3\varkappa - w\varkappa)r_h}.$$
(47)

As can be shown, for instance by considering Hawking radiation as a tunneling effect [59], it is possible to relate the surface gravity of a black hole metric with the black hole temperature (which is a formula that only relies on the metric functions and is independent on the details of the field theory that originated the spacetime). In this case, it can be described in term of the equation of state w, and of the parameter

of the f(R, T) gravity \varkappa as $T_{BH} = \hbar \kappa / (2\pi)$ as follows

$$T_{BH} = \frac{\hbar}{4\pi r_h} - \frac{3K\hbar(8\pi w - \varkappa + 3w\varkappa)r_h^{-\frac{8(3\pi w + w\varkappa + \pi)}{3\varkappa + 8\pi - w\varkappa}}}{4\pi(8\pi + 3\varkappa - w\varkappa)r_h}.$$
 (48)

From this expression, we observe that Hawking temperature for a black hole surrounded by fluid in f(R, T) gravity has an additional structure that comes from the dependence on the parameter \varkappa . In the following, we analyze the influence of this result by taking into account particular choices of the parameter w.

5 Particular cases

Let us study some cases corresponding to particular choices of the parameter of the equation of state w and compare with the corresponding solutions in general relativity. As we will see, the values of the w associated to the well-known particular solutions will provide a family of solutions depending on the parameter \varkappa of the f(R, T) gravity. We stress that particular choices of the parameter w regarding the solution obtained in f(R, T) do not necessarily have the same interpretation as the solutions obtained in general relativity with the same value of w.

5.1 Black hole surrounded by a dust field

In this case we choice w = 0 [2, 60] such that Eq. (31) reduces to the form

$$B(r) = 1 - \frac{2M}{r} + Kr^{-\frac{8\pi}{3\varkappa + 8\pi}}.$$
(49)

The presence of the parameter \varkappa imply that this solution in not equivalent to the metric of the black hole surrounded by a dust field in the context of general relativity. In the case of $\varkappa \to 0$, Eq. (49) reduces to the metric associated to a Schwarzschild black hole with an effective mass $M_{eff} = 2M - K$. The energy density associated to Eq. (49) is given by

$$\rho = -\frac{3K_{\varkappa r} - \frac{6(4\pi + \varkappa)}{8\pi + 3\varkappa}}{(8\pi + 3\varkappa)^2},$$
(50)

which in turn differs from the Kiselev black hole [2], in general relativity. The SEC conditions, represented by Equations (44) and (45), are equivalent in the case w = 0 and are given by expression

$$\frac{-K\varkappa}{64\pi^2 + 48\pi\varkappa + 9\varkappa^2} \ge 0.$$
 (51)

For K > 0, the solution should satisfy the inequality $\varkappa \le 0$ with $\varkappa \ne -8\pi/3$. In Fig.4, the region where the SEC is satisfied, according conditions imposed by Eq.51,



Fig. 5 Equation (52) is plotted as a function of r_h considering several values for \varkappa with $K = \hbar = 1$, and w = 0. The curve with $\varkappa = 0$ (black curve) corresponds to the GR case

is plotted. In this way, in general relativity ($\varkappa = 0$) the SEC is satisfied. In turn, in f(R, T) gravity the SEC is satisfied or not, depending on values of \varkappa .

The Hawking temperature can be obtained by doing w = 0 in Eq. (48), and is given by

$$T_{BH} = \frac{8\pi + 3\varkappa (1 + Kr_h^{-\frac{8\pi}{8\pi + 3\varkappa}})}{4\pi r_h (8\pi + 3\varkappa)}.$$
(52)

This equation gives us a family of curves depending on the values of r_h and \varkappa . In Fig. 5, we draw a set of graphs of the Hawking temperature T_{BH} , with respect to r_h for different values of \varkappa . For positive values of \varkappa , the temperature remains positive, and increases when the value of r_h decreases. In contrast, negative values of \varkappa are associated to negative temperatures for small values of r_h .

5.2 Black hole surrounded by the radiation field

We consider a black hole in which w = 1/3, according to Ref. [2, 60] this specific value reproduces a black hole surrounded by the radiation field in the context of general relativity. By using the value w = 1/3 in Eq. (31) the metric function can be written as

$$B(r) = 1 - \frac{2M}{r} + Kr^{-\frac{3\pi}{\varkappa+3\pi}-1},$$
(53)

due to the presence of the parameter \varkappa , the metric associated to this expression is different from the metric of a black hole surrounded by the radiation field in general relativity. In the limit of $\varkappa \to 0$, we obtain the metric function

$$B(r) = 1 - \frac{2M}{r} + \frac{K}{r^2},$$
(54)

corresponding to the black hole surrounded by the radiation field obtained in [2]. The metric function (54) is effectively the metric of Reissner-Nordström black hole with an effective charge $Q_{eff}^2 = K$. In this case, the energy density associated to solution (53) is written as

$$\rho = \frac{9K\pi r^{-3\frac{4\pi+\varkappa}{3\pi+\varkappa}}}{8(3\pi+\varkappa)^2},$$
(55)

that depends on the parameter of the \varkappa of the f(R, T) gravity, which makes this result different from the one corresponding to the same system in general relativity, as expected. Regarding the SEC condition, represented by Equations (44) and (45), these relations, in the case w = 1/3, assume the form

$$\frac{3\pi K}{4(3\pi + \varkappa)^2} \ge 0,$$
(56)

$$\frac{\pi K}{2(3\pi + \varkappa)^2} \ge 0. \tag{57}$$

If one consider $K \ge 0$, these expressions obtained imply that $\varkappa \ne -\pi/3$.

In Fig. 6, the regions where the SEC is satisfied are plotted. Note that the SEC is fulfilled everywhere except at $\varkappa = -3\pi$ for K > 0, where there is a divergence in the equations for the SEC. For K < 0, the SEC is violated everywhere. By doing w = 0 in Eq. (48), we obtain the Hawking temperature for the black hole surrounded by the radiation field, given by

$$T_{BH} = \frac{1}{4\pi r_h} - \frac{3Kr_h^{-2-\frac{3\pi}{3\pi+\varkappa}}}{4(3\pi+\varkappa)}.$$
(58)



Fig. 7 The Hawking temperature, given in Equation (58), is plotted as a function of r_h , considering several values for \varkappa with $K = \hbar = 1$, and w = 1/3. The curve with $\varkappa = 0$ (black curve) corresponds to the GR case

We draw a set of graphs of the Hawking temperature T_{BH} with respect to r_h for different values of \varkappa in Fig. 7. For all values of \varkappa , the temperature remains positive in a region of considered and tends to negative values in the region where r_h is small.

5.3 Black hole surrounded by the quintessence field

It is assumed that the parameter of the equation of state is w = -2/3 [2, 60] in this solution. Thus, the function B(r) reads as

$$B(r) = 1 - \frac{2M}{r} + Kr^{\frac{8(3\pi + 2\varkappa)}{24\pi + 11\varkappa}},$$
(59)

we can see that the presence of term \varkappa , imply in a family of solutions associated to w = -2/3 in the context of f(R, T) gravity. The SEC conditions, (44) and (45) for



w = -2/3, take the following form

$$\frac{3K(16\pi + 9\varkappa)}{(24\pi + 11\varkappa)^2} \ge 0,\tag{60}$$

$$\frac{K(-16\pi - 9\varkappa)}{(24\pi + 11\varkappa)^2} \ge 0,$$
(61)

once again, this expression depends on the signal of the constant *K*. But in this case, namely, w = -2/3, the condition in which the SEC is not violated is given by the pair of equations that have different behavior in the domain under consideration. Now, there is only a point where Equations (60) and (61) are satisfied, given by $\varkappa = -16\pi/9$. As we can see in Fig. 8, Eq. (60), represented by the continuous line and Eq. (61), represented by the dashed line, have opposite behavior. In this figure, it was considered positive values for *K*. By considering negative values, the shapes of curves are reversed.

Assuming w = -2/3 in Eq. (48), the Hawking temperature for the black hole surrounded by the quintessence field takes the form

$$T_{BH} = \frac{3K(9\varkappa + 16\pi)r_h^{\frac{8(2\varkappa + 3\pi)}{11\varkappa + 24\pi}} + 11\varkappa + 24\pi}{4\pi r_h(11\varkappa + 24\pi)},$$
(62)

We can see in Fig. 9 the Hawking temperature T_{BH} as a function of r_h for different values of \varkappa . In this case, the shape of curves changes significantly for each value of \varkappa . Note that all the curves are associated to the positive values of temperature, except the green curve, where the Hawking temperature assumes negative values in the domain studied.

5.4 Black hole surrounded by the cosmological constant field

According to Ref. [2, 61], the value w = -1 corresponds to the black hole surrounded by the cosmological constant field. Then, Eq. (31), in the context of the f(R, T)



Fig. 9 The Hawking temperature for the black hole surrounded by the quintessence field plotted as a function of r_h considering different values of \varkappa with $K = \hbar = 1$, and w = -2/3. The curve with $\varkappa = 0$ (black curve) corresponds to the GR case

gravity, considering the equation of state with w = -1, reduces to

$$B(r) = 1 - \frac{2M}{r} + Kr^2.$$
 (63)

This is the same function obtained in [2] in the context of general relativity. Thus, we conclude that the case w = -1 in f(R, T) gravity corresponds, exactly, to the one obtained in the framework of general relativity. The energy density assumes the form

$$\rho = -\frac{3K}{8\pi + 4\varkappa},\tag{64}$$

where $\varkappa \neq -2\pi$ in order to avoid the singularity at this point. Using w = -1 in Equations (60) and (61), we conclude that Eq. (61) is zero and Eq. (60) can be written as

$$\frac{K}{4\pi + 2\varkappa} \ge 0,\tag{65}$$

with $\varkappa > -2\pi$. In Fig. 10, we show the behavior of the LHS of Eq. (65) considering K > 0.

5.5 Black hole surrounded by the phantom field

The black hole associated to the phantom field can be obtained in general relativity, considering w = -4/3 [61]. Substituting this value in Eq. (31), we find the following



metric function

$$B(r) = 1 - \frac{2M}{r} + Kr^{\frac{8(9\pi + 4\varkappa)}{24\pi + 13\varkappa}}.$$
(66)

The presence of the parameter \varkappa , imply that the solutions associated to w = -4/3 in the context of f(R, T) gravity and the solutions with w = -4/3 in general relativity, are not equivalent. The SEC conditions, (44) and (45) for w = -4/3 are given by relations

$$\frac{9K(32\pi + 15\varkappa)}{(24\pi + 13\varkappa)^2} \ge 0,\tag{67}$$

$$\frac{K(32\pi + 15\varkappa)}{(24\pi + 13\varkappa)^2} \ge 0,$$
(68)

where the solution of the pair of equations above demands that

$$-\frac{32\pi}{15} \le \varkappa < -\frac{24\pi}{13}, \text{ or } \varkappa > -\frac{24\pi}{13}.$$
 (69)

In Fig. 11, Eqs. (68) and (69), represented by the continuous line and dashed lines, respectively, have similar behavior. In this figure, it was considered positive values for K. The shapes of the curve for negative values of K, are reversed as compared to the one for positive values of K.

Assuming w = -4/3 in Eq. (48), the Hawking temperature for the black hole surrounded by the quintessence field takes the form

$$T_{BH} = \frac{3K(15\chi + 32\pi)r^{\frac{8(4\chi + 9\pi)}{13\chi + 24\pi}} + 13\chi + 24\pi}{4\pi r(13\chi + 24\pi)}.$$
(70)

The Hawking temperature, in this case, is shown in Fig. 12. The shape of curves do not change significantly for each value of \varkappa . We observe that all the curves are associated to the positive values of temperature in the domain studied.



Fig. 12 The Hawking temperature for the black hole surrounded by the quintessence field plotted as a function of r_h considering different values of \varkappa with $K = \hbar = 1$, and w = -4/3. The curve with $\varkappa = 0$ (black curve) corresponds to the GR case

6 Final remarks

The results obtained in this paper provide, for the first time in the literature, a solution of the gravitational field equation in f(R, T) gravity corresponding to the fluid of Kiselev's. This solution has an interesting feature: by choosing particular values of the parameter of the equations of state, namely w, we are able to reproduce well-known solutions of the Einstein field equation as particular cases. As we have seen in this paper, this remarkable feature is present in the context of f(R, T) gravity.

This fluid has been studied in the context of general relativity and modified theories of gravity. In the present paper, we have considered the model $f(T) = \varkappa T^n$ and the conditions that it must satisfy in order to generate Kiselev black holes in the context of this theory of gravity. Indeed, the additivity and linearity conditions suggests that the accepted value of *n* should be 1. The general solution obtained has an additional structure that comes from the dependence on the parameter \varkappa of the f(R, T) gravity.

This property implies that several particular values of the parameter w in modified gravity lead to solutions which differs from the Kiselev black hole, in general relativity.

To carry out a systematic analysis of the solution obtained in f(R, T) gravity, we use particular values for w associated to the solutions corresponding to a black holes surrounded by dust field (w = 0), radiation field (w = 1/3), quintessence field (w = -2/3), cosmological constant field (w = -1), phantom field (w = -4/3) and so on. Considering the particular solutions studied, only the case w = -1 is equivalent to the solution obtained in general relativity. The other cases studied, have an additional structure in the solutions provided by the modified gravity, which is characterized by dependence on the parameter \varkappa .

Due to the presence of the additional structure from f(R, T) gravity, in the majority of the solutions considered, the SEC condition can be satisfied, considering the particular cases. We have analyzed in details the conditions imposed by SEC on the parameter \varkappa of the theory and on the constant *K* and conclude that the particular solutions that depend on \varkappa are more flexible regarding the energy conditions. We studied the horizons associated to the solution obtained and determined the Hawking temperatures. As we can see, in some particular cases studied, the Hawking temperature can reach negative values for certain values of \varkappa , which means that some restrictions should be imposed to the values of \varkappa in order to avoid this behavior.

Finally, we observe that the choice of models of f(R, T) gravity with high order terms in R or T can lead to difficulties in finding exact solutions due to the condition H = kF, supposed in the solution obtained.

Acknowledgements L. C. N. S. would like to thank Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq) for partial financial support through the research Project No. 164762/2020-5. I. P. L. was partially supported by the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development - CNPq grant 306414/2020-1 and by the grant 3197/2021, Paraíba State Research Foundation (FAPESQ). I. P. L. would like to acknowledge the contribution of the COST Action CA18108. F. M. S. would like to thank FAPESC/CNPq for financial support under grant 150721/2023-4. V. B. B. is partially supported by CNPq through the Research Project No. 307211/2020-7.

Author Contributions L. C. N. Santos, F. M. da Silva, C. E. Mota, I. P. Lobo, V. B. Bezerra: Conceptualization, Methodology L. C. N. Santos, F. M. da Silva, C. E. Mota, I. P. Lobo, V. B. Bezerra: Data curation, Writing- Original draft preparation L. C. N. Santos, F. M. da Silva, C. E. Mota, I. P. Lobo, V. B. Bezerra: Visualization, Investigation L. C. N. Santos, F. M. da Silva, C. E. Mota, I. P. Lobo, V. B. Bezerra: Software, Validation L. C. N. Santos, F. M. da Silva, C. E. Mota, I. P. Lobo, V. B. Bezerra: Software, Validation L. C. N. Santos, F. M. da Silva, C. E. Mota, I. P. Lobo, V. B. Bezerra: Software, Validation L. C. N. Santos, F. M. da Silva, C. E. Mota, I. P. Lobo, V. B. Bezerra: Writing- Reviewing and Editing V. B. Bezerra: Supervision

Data availability All data generated or analysed during this study are included in this published article

Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors declare no conflict of interest

References

- Perlmutter, S., Aldering, G., Goldhaber, G., Knop, R., Nugent, P., Castro, P.G., Deustua, S., Fabbro, S., Goobar, A., Groom, D.E., et al.: Astrophys J 517, 565 (1999)
- 2. Kiselev, V.V.: Class. Quantum Gravity 20, 1187 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/20/6/310

- 3. Visser, M.: Class. Quantum Gravity 37, 045001 (2020)
- 4. Konoplya, R.A.: Phys. Lett. B 795, 1 (2019)
- 5. Zeng, X.-X., Zhang, H.-Q.: Eur. Phys. J. C 80, 1 (2020)
- Abdujabbarov, A., Toshmatov, B., Stuchlík, Z., Ahmedov, B.: Int. J. Modern Phys. D 26, 1750051 (2017)
- 7. He, A., Tao, J., Xue, Y., Zhang, L.: Chinese Phys. C (2022)
- 8. Atamurotov, F., Hussain, I., Mustafa, G., Övgün, A.: Chinese Phys. C (2022)
- 9. Chen, S., Jing, J.: Class. Quantum Gravity 22, 4651 (2005)
- 10. Zhang, Y., Gui, Y.-X.: Class. Quantum Gravity 23, 6141 (2006)
- 11. Varghese, N., Kuriakose, V.C.: Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 41, 1249 (2009)
- 12. Zhang, Y., Gui, Y., Yu, F., Li, F.: Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 39, 1003 (2007)
- 13. Rayimbaev, J., Majeed, B., Jamil, M., Jusufi, K., Wang, A.: Phys. Dark Univ. 35, 100930 (2022)
- 14. Toledo, J.M., Bezerra, V.B.: Int. J. Modern Phys. D 28, 1950023 (2019)
- 15. Saleh, M., Bouetou, B.T., Kofane, T.C.: Astrophys. Space Sci. 333, 449 (2011)
- 16. Tharanath, R., Varghese, N., Kuriakose, V.C.: Mod. Phys. Lett. A 29, 1450057 (2014)
- 17. Saleh, M., Thomas, B.B., Kofane, T.C.: Eur. Phys. J. C 78, 1 (2018)
- 18. Yu, Z., Chun-Yan, W., Yuan-Xing, G., Fu-Jun, W., Fei, Y.: Chin. Phys. Lett. 26, 030401 (2009)
- 19. Chakrabarty, H., Abdujabbarov, A., Bambi, C.: Eur. Phys. J. C 79, 1 (2019)
- 20. Thomas, B.B., Saleh, M., Kofane, T.C.: Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 44, 2181 (2012)
- 21. Ghaderi, K., Malakolkalami, B.: Nucl. Phys. B 903, 10 (2016)
- 22. Saleh, M., Thomas, B.B., Kofane, T.C.: Int. J. Theor. Phys. 57, 2640 (2018)
- 23. Toledo, J.M., Bezerra, V.B.: Eur. Phys. J. C 79, 1 (2019)
- 24. Chen, H., Lütfüoğlu, B.C., Hassanabadi, H., Long, Z.-W.: Phys. Lett. B 827, 136994 (2022)
- 25. Tharanath, R., Kuriakose, V.C.: Mod. Phys. Lett. A 28, 1350003 (2013)
- 26. Ma, M.-S., Zhao, R., Ma, Y.-Q.: Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 49, 1 (2017)
- 27. Xu, Z., Liao, Y., Wang, J.: Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 34, 1950185 (2019)
- 28. Pradhan, P.: Int. J. Modern Phys. D 26, 1750010 (2017)
- 29. Majeed, B., Jamil, M., Pradhan, P.: Adv. High Energy Phys. 2015 (2015)
- 30. Ndongmo, R., Mahamat, S., Bouetou, T.B., Kofane, T.C.: Phys. Scr. 96, 095001 (2021)
- 31. Haldar, A., Biswas, R.: Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 52, 1 (2020)
- 32. Tian, Y., Wu, X.-N.: J. High Energy Phys. 2011, 1 (2011)
- 33. Jawad, A., Siddique, I., Lobo, I.P., Us Salam, W.: Int. J. Modern Phys. D 29, 2050101 (2020)
- 34. Ghaffarnejad, H., Yaraie, E., Farsam, M.: Eur. Phys. J. Plus 135, 1 (2020)
- 35. Lobo, I.P., M. H., M.G.J. P., S.I. G.: Int. J. Modern Phys. D 27, 1850069 (2018)
- 36. Soroushfar, S., Saffari, R., Upadhyay, S.: Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 51, 1 (2019)
- 37. Xu, Z., Hou, X., Gong, X., Wang, J.: Eur. Phys. J. C 78, 1 (2018)
- 38. Guo, S., He, K.-J., Li, G.-R., Li, G.-P.: Class. Quantum Gravity 38, 165013 (2021)
- 39. Lin, K., Qian, W.-L.: Chin. Phys. C 43, 083106 (2019)
- 40. Pourhassan, B., Upadhyay, S.: Eur. Phys. J. Plus 136, 1 (2021)
- 41. Penrose, R.: Nuovo Cimento Rivista Serie 1, 252 (1969)
- 42. Hong, W., Mu, B., Tao, J.: Nucl. Phys. B **949**, 114826 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysb. 2019.114826
- 43. Nashed, G.G.L., Nojiri, S.: Phys. Rev. D 102, 124022 (2020)
- Oliveira, A.M., Velten, H.E.S., Fabris, J.C., Casarini, L.: Phys. Rev. D92, 044020 (2015). https://doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevD.92.044020. arXiv:1506.00567 [gr-qc]
- Oliveira, A.M., Velten, H.E.S., Fabris, J.C.: Phys. Rev. D93, 124020 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.93.124020. arXiv:1602.08513 [gr-qc]
- Mota, C.E., Santos, L.C.N., da Silva, F.M., Flores, C.V., da Silva, T.J.N., Menezes, D.P.: Class. Quant. Grav. 39, 085008 (2022a). https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6382/ac5a13
- Mota, C.E., Santos, L.C.N., da Silva, F.M., Grams, G., Lobo, I.P., Menezes, D.P.: Int. J. Modern Phys. D 31, 2250023 (2022b). https://doi.org/10.1142/S0218271822500237
- Mota, C.E., Santos, L.C.N., Grams, G., da Silva, F.M., Menezes, D.P.: Phys. Rev. D100, 024043 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.100.024043. arXiv:1905.01250 [astro-ph.HE]
- 49. Hendi, S., Bordbar, G., Panah, B.E., Panahiyan, S.: JCAP 2016, 013 (2016)
- 50. Carroll, S.M., Duvvuri, V., Trodden, M., Turner, M.S.: Phys. Rev. D 70, 043528 (2004)
- 51. Starobinsky, A.A.: Phys. Lett. B 91, 99 (1980)
- 52. Barrow, J.D., Ottewill, A.C.: J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 16, 2757 (1983)

- 53. Harko, T., Lobo, F.S., Nojiri, S., Odintsov, S.D.: Phys. Rev. D 84, 024020 (2011)
- 54. Sharif, M., Zubair, M.: J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 2012, 028 (2012)
- 55. Jamil, M., Momeni, D., Raza, M., Myrzakulov, R.: Eur. Phys. J. C 72, 1 (2012)
- 56. Shabani, H., Farhoudi, M.: Phys. Rev. D 90, 044031 (2014)
- Deb, D., Ketov, S.V., Maurya, S.K., Khlopov, M., Moraes, P.H. R.S., Ray, S.: Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 485, 5652 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/stz708,https://academic. oup.com/mnras/article-pdf/485/4/5652/28267278/stz708.pdf
- Alvarenga, F., De La Cruz-Dombriz, A., Houndjo, M., Rodrigues, M., Sáez-Gómez, D.: Phys. Rev. D 87, 103526 (2013)
- Parikh, M.K., Wilczek, F.: Phys. Rev. Lett. 85, 5042 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.85. 5042. arXiv:hep-th/9907001
- 60. Rastall, P.: Phys. Rev. D6, 3357 (1972). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.6.3357
- Heydarzade, Y., Darabi, F.: Phys. Lett. B 771, 365 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2017.05. 064. arXiv:1702.07766 [gr-qc]

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Springer Nature or its licensor (e.g. a society or other partner) holds exclusive rights to this article under a publishing agreement with the author(s) or other rightsholder(s); author self-archiving of the accepted manuscript version of this article is solely governed by the terms of such publishing agreement and applicable law.